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DAY 3 – 7 OCTOBER 2015 

 

  [10.33 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, Mr Jordan, do you want to come forward to a 5 

microphone there. I’ve got you down just making a – you want to give 

evidence? 

 

MR JORDAN:   I did submit some evidence. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, come forward into the witness box then. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, if it assists, I was down to cross-examine Mr Jordan 

and I have reflected on that and I withdraw that cross-examination 

request and indeed all of the outstanding cross-examination requests for 15 

the remainder of the hearing from the Council, just in light of the way 

matters have progressed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. Well, look, we’ll have Mr Jordan sworn in 

anyway given he elected to call evidence, we’ll let you do that, and just 20 

while that’s going on just if you could go into the witness box there, 

Mr Jordan, thank you, and you will be sworn in.  Mr Winchester, 

there’s a couple of other little things, so first, just generally speaking, 

and I mentioned yesterday Ms Dawson has got a virus which 

sometimes means we have to go to recess for coughing reasons and that 25 

sort of thing, so you’ll understand why we might do that from time to 

time. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay.  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms Dawson had a question regarding deferral and 

Mr Stevenson’s evidence, did you want to deal with that now? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, if I could, thank you. As I think you know, we’ve been 

looking at trying to collate all the matters that have been recommended 35 

to be deferred, and one of them has come up from pre-hearing 

statement of issues for this hearing. It was sort of listed in there but it 

hasn’t been picked up. I mean it’s still retained in Mr Stevenson’s 

version of the Chapter, the Commercial Chapter, and he’s even made a 

recommendation for an amendment to it, like, he’s still thinking that 40 

it’s part of this Chapter, so we just want clarification whether it is 

deferred or not and so we can make sure that the relevant parties are 

invited to the relevant hearings. So it is a clause to be added to 15.8.1.1, 

which is one of the assessed matters of discretion that relates to 

heritage buildings. 45 
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  [10.35 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That rings a bell. Sorry, Commissioner Dawson, where 

was that addressed in – 2.2? 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, sorry, I just have a note from Ms Robinson that it’s in 

the pre-hearing statement of issues. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I have got it here, it’s 2.2 of the statement of 

issues, additional clause. Yes, I will confirm that. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I mean talk to Mr Stevenson and let us know whether it’s 

in or out. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, yes, I will do that.  15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 
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<CHRISTIAN JORDAN, sworn [10.36 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning again, Mr Jordan. I will just go through the 

formalities, but you will be familiar with them anyway. Your full name 

is Christian Paul Jordan? 

 

MR JORDAN:   That is correct.  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are a residential landlord and developer based in 

Christchurch. 

 

MR JORDAN:   That’s correct. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You’ve been involved in the property sector since 1996? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You’ve made previous submissions to this Panel on the 

various Chapters and you have made a declaration you don’t own a 

property in Stanleys Road and you are making this submission in your 

capacity as a Christchurch resident? 

 20 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, that’s correct.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you for that. So, are there any changes you wanted 

to make to your statement? 

 25 

MR JORDAN:   I don’t believe so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So on that basis do you confirm that it is true 

and correct? 

 30 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the basis that there is no cross-examination, it’s really 

a matter for you now just to speak to us about your evidence, which we 

have read, looked at the photographs, and so you just proceed from 35 

there. 

 

MR JORDAN:   Okay. That’s all right. It’s not a huge issue, this one, relative 

to some of the outlines I presented to the Panel, but I think there are 

two points here, one is that that’s a unique area because the treed and 40 

rural aspect of the area and you can see that in the photographs there, 

that there’s actually – if you look around the northern outskirts of 

Christchurch there aren’t any other pockets like that, and the other issue 

is that there’s a very large amount of this Industrial Park Zoning being 

proposed at the moment, so I think roughly there’s 20 odd hectares in 45 

this area of Stanleys Road.  That’s not including the bit that fronts 
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Johns Road, or I think it’s actually Russley Road at that point, it 

changes to Johns in the next block, so the part fronting Russley and 

Wairakei, not including that, there’s about 20 hectares there which is 

10 central city blocks.  

 5 

 In addition to that, you have, of course, got the bit fronting Wairakei 

and Russley, so there’s another 20 hectares there, and also the proposal 

on Memorial Ave, so about another 20 hectares, so you’ve got 

60 hectares of this Industrial Park Zone being proposed there and my 

concern is that – or one of the concerns amongst this - is that that, I’m 10 

not sure if you’ve all been long term in Christchurch but the 

Technology Park in William Pickering Drive, that took up to 30 years 

to develop, and I think there’s still some vacant sites there, but that sat 

idle with one building every 100 metres or more for a very, very long 

time, since the early 80s, I remember that as a child being an unusual 15 

development, being so isolated and those buildings being built in there.  

 

 And that now we have got the ones on the International Airport side of 

the road, on Office Park, there’s a very large area, I’m not sure of the 

area, but I think it’s at least 30-40 hectares of Office Park Zoning there 20 

which is largely undeveloped at this stage.   

 

 So, one of the aspects of this submission is that you’re putting 

60 hectares into this area, which is probably more than is required at 

the moment and when we consider that would be 60 hectares, a city 25 

block is about two hectares, so that would be 30 city blocks, which is 

more than the entire CBD which, as we see, and I am sure you are 

aware, that there is a real struggle to find office tenants in the CBD and 

creating a zone that is primarily in an industrial park with light office 

space and that type of thing, it’s just going to detract from that, and 30 

these are the sort of activities that could also happen in the eastern 

inner city of Christchurch, in the Barbadoes to Fitzgerald area and that 

sort of thing. 

 

  [10.40 am] 35 

 

 So there is that issue and there is also the issue that when the Council 

proposed to – and I made submissions on this – the Addington area, to 

put extra office space into there, that was quite strongly opposed by the 

Council, putting extra office space into that what was the Industrial 40 

zone, Industrial General zone round Mandeville Street, Lincoln Road, 

and there was some very strong views from the Council that that should 

not be put in. 

 

 Yet here they are putting 60 hectares of potential office space, so that is 45 

my concern.  So that, Stanleys Road has got such a unique character, it 
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seems a shame to spoil that by taking that 20 hectares at the moment. I 

mean, in due course it may be required but at the moment, at the very 

least, some consideration should be given to the fact that it is a rural 

character area and so if there is any development there, the alternative 

suggestion I give is that there should be more restrictions to preserve 5 

some of that rural character. 

 

 Because you see along – I am sure you know Grahams Road around 

Rembrandt Place, the section where the Council in the, I think it was 

the late 70s, early 80s, they preserved that stretch of poplars along there 10 

and you’ve got where the road splits between Rembrandt and 

Thurlestone Place on Grahams Road just near Memorial Avenue. 

 

 And I mean that’s got quite a unique character now, that area, so I 

mean, given there are some very established, I mean, there are trees and 15 

things in this area, something along those lines in that area could be 

achieved as part of the conditions of developing that area.  I mean if it 

was done sensitively it could be developed.   

 

 But there is also the aspect that I do not view that you quite need 20 

60 hectares of Industrial Park right now or even in the next 10 or 15 

years, when you look at the rate of take-up of this type of land around 

the city over say the past 30 years.  Especially with all that available 

land in the central city that wasn’t available when you consider the past 

30 years, it wasn’t available at that time, that type of big vacant sites in 25 

the CBD which are currently available. 

 

 And also in saying that, there are also sites that were in the LURP 

further along Johns Road that are more appropriate with the other point, 

for instance, the old gravel pit fronting between Waimakariri Road in 30 

the next block down, between Waimakariri Road and Johns Road.  

That site is just a wasteland and fronting Johns Road and would have 

been more appropriate to have been Industrial Park zoned.  It is 

opposite where the Press is now located on Johns Road.  That would 

have been a more appropriate site to go first than this Stanleys Road 35 

site. 

 

 So there are a whole range of aspects why I think it has not quite been 

done in the right order for rezoning and why it is probably not needed 

right away.  So, I think that covers most of the points. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Yes, thanks, thanks Mr Jordan.  Just in terms of 

those matters, I will just test with my fellow Panel members.  I have got 

one or two thoughts, questions myself and I will just see if there are 

any questions. Ms Dawson? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Just an enquiry, Mr Jordan.  Thank you very much for 

coming along to us again. 

 

MR JORDAN:   Thank you. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   You are aware that this area has been identified as a priority 

business - - - 

 

MR JORDAN:   In the LURP. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   - - - Greenfields area in the LURP - - - 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  - - - and that has rolled over into the Regional Policy 15 

Statement.  In terms of the previous processes that went on around 

investigating and researching and planning for where these greenfield 

business areas should go and putting this into the LURP, have you had 

any involvement or tried to make submissions or - - - 

 20 

MR JORDAN:   I wasn’t, at that time, I was not aware that submissions were 

available.  That LURP sort of came out and - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 25 

MR JORDAN:   - - - I think that was about two to three years ago and I was 

still sort of stuck in insurance, still actually stuck in some insurance 

issues, but I did not pay attention to that at the time.  But I noticed in 

that LURP the Greenfield Priority areas also includes the one I just 

suggested.  For instance, the industrial areas were a lot larger than these 30 

areas, and they have chosen these areas first and I was suggesting that 

some of those other areas that were identified in the LURP may have – 

I mean if this much land was required, like the one in Wairakei to 

Johns Road, might have been a better choice to go first because of its 

location on Johns Road and the fact that it’s currently a wasteland and 35 

that this is almost virgin farmland. 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 You know, virgin rural area and a good amenity for the neighbouring 40 

or nearby residential properties. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in terms of staging the development of these areas, you 

are saying let’s not do this one first. 

 45 
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MR JORDAN:   Yes, that is one of the things.  And if you are going to do it, 

make sure you bring some aspect to protect that rural character. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and I noticed you have made some suggestions about 

that. 5 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, I mean they were just general suggestions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but thank you for that.  All right, thank you very much. 

 10 

MR JORDAN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions. 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, Sir. 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   No, I won’t, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Willis.  Yes, Ms Dawson has covered off 

one area of questioning I had following similar lines about those 20 

statutory documents.  On this question of need and also on the question 

of offices and the issues with the CBD, have you had a chance to look 

at Mr Osborne’s evidence for the Council? 

 

MR JORDAN:   I have looked at Mr Stevens’, with Mr Osborne’s, I haven’t 25 

looked at his, sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, in some ways the opinions, so Mr Osborne is an 

economist and he is the co-author with Mr Heath of a report called 

Property Economics Report which is a substantial report that underpins 30 

the Council’s evaluation of alternatives, a section 32 evaluation for this 

proposal and he gave evidence to us earlier in the week.  And so a 

couple of things he has made observations about and I thought your 

observations seem similar in some ways, different in others, perhaps.   

 35 

 On the question of offices, he has also expressed some concerns around 

the question of competition with the central city.  So, given you have 

not read his evidence I do not think I can clearly ask any questions 

around it other than to note that we have received it and it is a live issue 

for the Panel to reflect on in terms of what is appropriate by way of 40 

office provision in these areas, given Mr Osborne’s evidence and other 

evidence on that topic.   

 

 So just so that you know it is very live to us. 

 45 
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MR JORDAN:   Okay, Sir, just one question, on the Industrial Park, there is 

one of the concerns that I have that if there was not demand for office 

space that it would then come into a very more Industrial General area 

where you had more warehousing type activities which would be even 

more negative for the area. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR JORDAN:   That was a concern if it went down that path as well, rather 

than it just being Industrial Park, being Industrial General or any other 10 

zone would actually make it even worse, a greater impact on the rural 

aspect of that area.  The Johns Road would not be so much of a 

concern. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  No, no, thanks for that.  And the other thing, 15 

yes, no it’s probably a question, given that you have not read 

Mr Osborne’s evidence, and that is not a criticism - - - 

 

MR JORDAN:   Sorry, I did not realise about - - - 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - no, no, no, I just wanted to let you know that the issue 

of need and how much is needed for Christchurch in regard to the 

industrial land provision generally, within which we consider these 

issues, was also covered by Mr Osborne who has informed us that the 

provision in the notified proposal is very generous in that regard in 25 

terms of need and what it forecasts need is. 

 

 The other thing we need to bear in mind in that area though too, just so 

that you know, one of the things we consider is the statutory documents 

do not just describe it as a need issue, they also talk about the 30 

importance of location and competition. 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So those are the other factors.  On the question of –35 

looking at the photos, I understand, I have got some insight into what 

you are saying.  I am a newbie to Christchurch as you probably know - 

- - 

 

MR JORDAN:   Okay. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - but nevertheless the photos do give an impression of 

the amenity values you see in Stanleys Road.  Have you had a chance 

to look at the notified provisions in terms of amenity management if 

you like, setbacks, those sorts of things? 45 
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MR JORDAN:   In the Industrial Park zone? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR JORDAN:   I know that it is a 50 percent site coverage and there are 5 

setbacks and such.  But the reality is that if that was developed, that all 

those trees, of course, are not protected,  they’re generally a species 

that are not protected – I mean, the one that Tait, where had Tait had 

developed at the end of the road, they’ve just pretty much cleared. 

 10 

  [10.50 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR JORDAN:   They had similar trees and things and they pretty much just 15 

cleared the majority, not everything.  So I would envisage that if that 

type of development proceeded through there, unless there was some 

specific requirement, they could well be felled before consents were 

lodged and that sort of thing. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that’s what you're looking for, more specific 

requirements for? 

 

MR JORDAN:   If it was to be developed as Industrial Park, I think there 

would need to be some sort of – just to protect, I mean, I am not sure if 25 

you have ever been down Sandy’s Road but it is quite different to – 

there is very few roads, and if you look around the area within 

John’s Road, that old Harewood area, there is very few streets that are 

like that. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  

 

MR JORDAN:   The only other one, perhaps, is Watsons Road but even that 

does not have the same sort of character and most of the other ones are 

more open rural, just plain paddocks, I mean, obviously there are trees 35 

and things, but this one, the character is quite different because it is a 

narrow road, it’s got established trees and it is just a pleasant area at the 

moment.  So it is a bit unfortunate that when you have got on the site 

on Johns Road further around, that is the old gravel pit that has been 

filled in, that’s a bit of a wasteland at the moment, that those sites were 40 

not considered, which were also identified in the LURP, weren’t 

considered in advance of this site, especially when you are putting so 

much Industrial park zone - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I know, I hear what you are say about that, and my 45 

question was just around the amenity issue and I think you have made 
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it clear and thank you for bringing that context to our attention.  It is 

helpful to understand that and we will obviously need to reflect on that 

and what submissions from neighbours and so forth might say as well. 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, you are free to go.  

 

<WITNESS WITHDREW [10.52 am] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Murray.  Now, just pause, Mr Murray, 

welcome, I’ll just find your statement.  There we are, 2271. 

 

 I know you have opted for the witness box here, but what I have got in 

front of me though is just a document which doesn’t look like you 15 

wanted to or proposing to give evidence, it is just a response to certain 

statements.  So you don’t need to be sitting there, you can go back out 

there and just talk from one of the microphones, and once you have got 

a microphone I will explain why.  

20 
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<BRYAN MURRAY [10.53 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now you can stand up. 

 

MR MURRAY:   I can stand up. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  All right, now can you hear quite clearly? 5 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Now the reason that I have asked you to go back 

there is that there is a choice that you and others can make between 10 

either just making a statement from where you are, which is what I 

understand your written document has asked for, or actually elect to 

give evidence, in which case you are sworn in as a witness and have to 

give that evidence according to the oath that you take.   

 15 

 Now, Mr Jordan elected to give evidence and that is why he went into 

the witness box but I’m right, am I, to look at your letter or statement, 

as just a statement where you want to speak to the points that you have 

made there, is that right, and you are quite entitled to do that. 

 20 

MR MURRAY:   I just wanted to speak to the submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just so that you understand.  

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 25 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The process can be a little bit foreign to people coming 

along for the first time so I just wanted to reassure you that while I 30 

have asked you to go back into the hearings room there, we are still 

going to listen to you and hear what you have got to say and we have 

some questions for you.  So we will see how we go.   

 

 So at this point you can just speak to whatever you want to say in 35 

regard to this written statement that we’ve got, and we have read it, 

okay, and so the floor is yours. 

 

MR MURRAY:   Okay.  Now our submission is quite clear.  The land is no 

longer rural operation and yet the Council is suggesting that we retain 40 

the rural zoning.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, just pause a minute, which land – I am 

looking at the - - - 

 45 

MR MURRAY:   278 Wooldridge Road.  I haven’t got a map in front of me.   
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MS…………:   We will get one. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we can get on up on the screen here.  Can you see 

that map clearly? 5 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and can you guide us to the land.  Where the 

arrow is pointing is that the land? 10 

 

MR MURRAY:   Where the arrow is pointing is our neighbour, ours is sort of 

the surrounding land. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What colour is it? 15 

 

MR MURRAY:   That is ours there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is yours there? 

 20 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR MURRAY:   There is an access, as you can see, but further down on the 25 

other side of our neighbour’s property. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, if you like, your neighbour’s property is a little 

subset of the bigger block - - - 

 30 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and your access is on the other side, it comes in 

around the back. 

 35 

MR MURRAY:   Well, we have got access to both parts, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, fronting Wooldridge Road.   

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes.   40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Okay, so now we have got that in front of us, 

you go back to the points you want to make about it and we will see if 

we have got any questions about that. 

 45 
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MR MURRAY:   We have got the opposition from officials from the 

City Council opposing the changing in zoning because of limited 

wastewater and drainage access and I found that a very poor response.  

The rest of the hearing is about Industrial Park which is virtually the 

whole of the land opposite us, so there is certainly going to be a lot of 5 

wastewater and drainage from that area and I cannot see that our little 

property is going to cause problems with the proposed disposal of 

wastewater and drainage from the rest of it.  So, I find that opposition 

totally out of order.  

 10 

 The other part of the opposition was there is an oversupply of industrial 

land.  But that is not the point.  The point that we want to make is it’s 

the use of the land that is important.  It cannot be used for rural 

operation because there is no more rural operation.  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What do you mean by “rural”? 

 

MR MURRAY:   What do I mean by rural? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MR MURRAY:   Well, we were agricultural contractors and we serviced the 

whole of the farming industry around us and there is no farming 

industry around us anymore - the City Council have approved 

residential, residential, residential and all our land is gone.  So we have 25 

had to move our operation elsewhere. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.   

 

MR MURRAY:   So we contend that the zoning of rural where we are is totally 30 

inappropriate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For the interests that you want to tell us about, your own 

personal interests. 

 35 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Inappropriate for those interests.  But we have to consider 

the wider community interests. 

 40 

MR MURRAY:   Of course you do.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What do you think about those? 

 

MR MURRAY:   But is not the economical use of the land part of your 45 

concern? 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Part of it, yes. 

 

MR MURRAY:   And what we’re contending is that there is no economical use 

of rural land where we are.  We thought we had stumbled on an 5 

alternative use in that it related to the airport.  Rental car owners 

wanted storage area, so we said – yes, well we have got the land sitting 

available, put your vehicles on there and when you want them, take 

them away, when you are not using them, put them back.  So, the 

Council says no, you may not cover more than 10 percent of your land, 10 

which was fine when we had plenty of farm land, but now we have 

only got that small area left.  Ten percent means a piece about as big as 

this table and coverage in their context, I believe, would be hard cover, 

whereas all we were doing was parking our car there and taking it away 

again.  We thought that was a good idea. 15 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

 But let me move on to the next point.  I would like an explanation 

please, from what Mark Stevenson used as an objection, a direction in 20 

higher order planning documents.  Whatever does that mean? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did you read his evidence? 

 

MR MURRAY:   I beg your pardon? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did you read his evidence? 

 

MR MURRAY:   I am sorry, Sir, I cannot understand what you are saying. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would it help for you to sit down. 

 

MR MURRAY:   No, it won’t make any difference. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You heard that.  35 

 

MR MURRAY:   I asked a question.  I would like an explanation to why 

Mark Stevenson uses the word “direction in higher order planning 

documents”.  What does that mean? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Why didn’t you ask him?  You had the opportunity. 

 

MR MURRAY:   I did, never got a reply. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, the opportunity you had to ask him that question was 45 

in this hearing.  It is not your place to demand an explanation - - - 
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MR MURRAY:   Oh, don’t - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - of the speaker - - - 

 5 

MR MURRAY:   - - - don’t get into argument about that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Be quiet please.  Be quiet, Mr Murray. 

 

MR MURRAY:   I am sorry? 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I said be quiet.  Until you have heard what I have got to 

say, you will be quiet. 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 15 

 

MR DAWSON:   You may not be able to hear very well but you can see my 

lips move and when they move, you do not say anything. 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Your opportunity to speak and ask Mr Stevenson 

questions was available.  Are you asking the Panel for an explanation 

of Mr Stevenson’s evidence?  Is that what you are asking for? 

 25 

MR MURRAY:   I wanted Mr Stevenson to answer but he did not reply. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I cannot help you with that - - - 

 

MR MURRAY:   Okay. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - if you are talking about correspondence with 

Mr Stevenson.  All I can help you with is the processes of this hearing, 

where you are entitled to take part.  But it is not your place to ask – to 

demand an explanation of what Mr Stevenson is asking for.  You can 35 

politely ask and we can try to help you, if that is what you are doing.  

 

MR MURRAY:   No.  We will move on, Sir.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we will move on. 40 

 

MR MURRAY:   Our focus is toward making economical use of the land.  I 

have made that point.  It is no longer an economical rural operation.   
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 It is excluded from residential use due to the airport noise restrictions, 

but we find that the road noise from traffic far outweighs any noise 

from the airport. 

 

 Because it is zoned rural, we cannot use it for any other use.  We have 5 

been advised to apply for a resource consent but our neighbours who 

did so, told us that it cost them upward of $200,000 to obtain their 

resource consent and that is only a temporary thing - - -. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what enquiries have you made? 10 

 

MR MURRAY:   I beg your pardon, Sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you made any enquiries yourself about how much it 

would cost you to apply for resource consent? 15 

 

MR MURRAY:   They would not tell me.  They said I had to start at $2,000 

and the rest was open. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 20 

 

MR MURRAY:   So, our finer point is there needs to be a much wider list of 

permitted activities, and our point was that here was the time to sort 

that out rather than us having to independently apply for a resource 

consent. 25 

 

 Thank you, Sir.  That is all I have to say. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, if you stay there and we’ll see if there are any 

questions from the Panel members, all right?  Ms Dawson? 30 

 

MR DAWSON:   Yes.  Mr Murray, could you help me with a few questions, 

please? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Could I what? 35 

 

MR DAWSON:   Could you help me by answering a few questions of mine, 

please? 

 

MR MURRAY:   By all means, certainly. 40 

 

MR DAWSON:   Did you note in Mr Stevenson’s evidence, because you 

referred to the fact that he talked about these higher order documents, 

did you also note that he did say that the constraints on your site and 

your neighbours’ sites would suggest that some future urban zoning 45 

might be appropriate?   
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MR MURRAY:   What would he mean by that? 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 5 

MR DAWSON:   No, I am asking you, did you notice that he said that? 

 

MR MURRAY:   No, I did not notice that. 

 

MR DAWSON:   It is in the same paragraph where he talked about the fact that 10 

he cannot help you with that zoning at the moment because of some 

other, what he calls, higher order documents that prevent him from 

doing that at the moment.  So he has - - - 

 

MR MURRAY:   My question to him was what are you talking about? 15 

 

MR DAWSON:   All right, okay.  So you have not had that answer then - - - 

 

MR MURRAY:   No. 

 20 

MR DAWSON:   - - - and that is quite a complicated issue.  My next question 

to you is, have you thought about taking your own legal or planning 

advice as to how to deal with what is a quite complex planning problem 

that your property just happens to have got into? 

 25 

MR MURRAY:   We do not see it as complicated at all, so that is why I am 

asking. 

 

MR DAWSON:   Mr Stevenson does and - - - 

 30 

MR MURRAY:   I know that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - I think he is probably right.  So you have not taken any 

legal or planning advice yourself about this matter? 

 35 

MR MURRAY:   Not separate planning advice, no. 

 

MR DAWSON:   All right.  Maybe it is something you should talk to 

Mr Stevenson about at a later date and see if there is a way forward for 

you through these higher order planning documents that Mr Stevenson 40 

refers to. 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes, okay. 

 

MR DAWSON:   Yes, so that is my only suggestion.  Thank you very much for 45 

coming along. 
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MR MURRAY:   Righto.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a minute, I will just see if there are any questions 

from other Panel members.   5 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, Sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 10 

MR WILLIS:   Good morning.  Perhaps if you could just tell us the size of your 

property, Mr Murray 

 

MR MURRAY:   The size? 

 15 

MR WILLIS:   The size, yes. 

 

MR MURRAY:   Roughly an acre. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  And was that part of a larger land holding of yours at 20 

some point in the same area? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Well, that whole property on Wooldridge Road, what is now 

Nunweek Park, used to be our farm. 

 25 

MR WILLIS:   I see, okay.  Thank you very much.  That has helped. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Murray, my question of you, in regard to your 

comment before around parking, you know, vehicles on your property, 

did you talk to your neighbours about that proposition?  Did you talk to 30 

them about the idea you had for doing that, storing cars there? 

 

MR MURRAY:   No – yes.  Well, no, I didn’t talk to them about our use of 

storing cars there but I had talked to them about their storage. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  But did I understand you to say that part of 

what you would like is to be able to make more commercial use of your 

land along the lines that you described, such as that usage? 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Again, it is not really more than I can say as a suggestion, 

but one of the things that could be said as a suggestion to you is that in 

resource consent processes, which people can apply for consent and see 

how they go, the interests of neighbours can be very important.  In 45 
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other words, if they support your proposition that might be relevant, it 

might help. 

 

MR MURRAY:   They certainly do support our proposition because they 

applied to support it here but were turned down. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  It is really only in the interests of trying to help 

you understand how resource management processes work so that you 

do not make it an unnecessarily incorrect assumption that consent 

processes will always be overly costly, unaffordable and so forth.   10 

 

 Sometimes it depends on things such as what your neighbours think 

about the issues you are dealing with and whether you can manage the 

effects of it, such as the traffic effects or any other effects on your 

neighbours in regard to that sort of thing. 15 

 

 So what we decide here is not really relevant to that.  It is really a 

matter for you.  Do you understand that? 

 

MR MURRAY:   I understand all that. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  The only other thing I would do is offer a 

suggestion on what this higher order document things means, which I 

can fully understand is probably gobbledegook to the average punter. 

 25 

MR MURRAY:   Absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   From our point of view, one of the documents that is 

called a higher order document, is this document.  It is called 

The Canterbury Regional Policy Statement.  You see that purple area 30 

across the road on that plan there?  Well, this document here identifies 

that land as being Greenfield – let us call it Greenfield Priority Area, 

but again it’s gobbledygook for saying industrial business land zoning 

suitable in the purple area and a priority under this document. 

 35 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 We have to give this document effect, that’s what we have to do, that’s 

what we are obliged to do. So I just thought it might help you 

understand words like Higher Order Planning Documents, which tend 40 

to get sprayed around in expert evidence and people forget that people 

like you are entitled to understand what it means.  

 

MR MURRAY:   I would have expected that having used that term there would 

be an explanation as to what that term meant. The Higher Planning 45 
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Document says we can’t do this, for instance, but there was no 

explanation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I perfectly understand that is a source of frustration and 

it’s regretful that those things can sometimes get in the way of 5 

participation and you have the right to participate and express your 

views, and it is fair that you understand what these things mean. 

 

MR MURRAY:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that’s all I can say on that. Is there anything else you 

wanted to say? 

 

MR MURRAY:   No, thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, thank you very much for coming along.   

 

<BRYAN MURRAY WITHDREW [11.12 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, so we’ve got the Awatea Residents’ Association 20 

next, I think.  Now, just get these - - - 

 

MR DELLACA:   Are we fine to sit here? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, if it’s your preference. I just want to have a look at - 25 

- - 

 

MR DELLACA:   We are not expert witnesses, we are just doing a 

presentation. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so in your case if you wanted to you could, 

because you’ve actually filed something called a statement of evidence, 

but it is entirely in your hands, if you feel as though you can do it better 

from there, then that’s entirely open to you. 

 35 

 So we have got Kay Stieller? 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, I am Kay Stieller. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good to see you, and? 40 

 

MR DELLACA:   Peter Dellaca. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Peter Dellaca. While you’re not fighting fires, you’re 

coming along telling us about community issues, I understand. 45 
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MS STIELLER:   Yes. 

 

MR DELLACA:   I beg your pardon? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I said while you’re not fighting fires, you’re dealing with 5 

community issues. 

 

MR DELLACA:   Yes, so true. 
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<KAY STIELLER AND PETER DELLACA [11.13 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, we have read your statement and we 

understand the context of this.  There’s no one that wants to 

cross-examine you, so you have the floor to speak to your issues and 

we will see if there are any questions that come from it. 

 5 

MS STIELLER:   Okay, thank you.  

 

 I have got some presentation notes and I can give you a copy of what I 

would like to read out. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you can do that.  

 

MS STIELLER:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, over to you, and feel free if there’s anything 15 

you want to comment on in regard to the evidence that has come up and 

these issues from Mr Stevenson or others, that you are entitled to 

comment on that too. 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, what I am just going to read to you today, 20 

Mr Stevenson was present at a meeting that we had with the planners. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just speak up. You are good now, I can hear that 

clearly. 

 25 

MS STIELLER:   Over the last weekend, the ARA considered very carefully 

whether it would cancel coming to this hearing or not after meeting 

with the Christchurch City Council planners last Friday. The ARA was 

told by the planners that if Kartsport Canterbury did not accept the 

offer to their club of assistance to relocate, resolved by Council on 30 

13 August 2015, the Council could not give consideration to a new 

zoning to South Awatea until a review of the Land Use Recovery Plan 

and the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement have been completed, 

will never rezone Awatea to a Commercial Light Industrial Zone.  

 35 

  [11.15 am] 

 

 This is very disappointing to the ARA.  It was the Council planners 

who encouraged the ARA to submit to the district plan review as a 

change of zoning was considered a solution to the constraints affecting 40 

development. Advises the landowners should now consider other 

alternatives within the present zoning, which would be economically 

viable for development, could return South Awatea to Rural 2, could 

leave South Awatea as it is now. 

 45 
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 After much debate, the ARA considered that the opinion of staff 

planners pre-empts the decision and recommendations of the 

Independent Hearings Panel. 

 

 Having said that, the ARA does understand that the rules and policies 5 

of the Resource Management Act, Christchurch City Plan, Land Use 

Recovery Plan and Canterbury Regional Policy Statement must be 

followed precisely to be consistent and workable. However, in our 

opinion there also must be some flexibility so that if necessary 

decisions under those rules and policies can be corrected. The ARA 10 

does also realise that it is far better to work with the territorial 

authorities than against them, which we intend to do.  

 

 The ARA respectfully ask the Independent Hearings Panel if 

Kartsport Canterbury does not accept the offer of assistance to relocate 15 

and to surrender their lease at Carrs Road Reserve, the Council be 

immediately required to work with land owners to find a way forward.  

 

 We realise that we are, at present, Greenfields Residential New 

Neighbourhood and we were given that zoning in 2012, which we were 20 

really happy with at the time, and we know that there was a constraint 

and we were going to appeal that but the planners said to us, well, let’s 

get it actually zoned and it was in Special Development Area and it was 

far better to put it into a permanent zoning and then correct whatever 

was a constraint and the Council had, from 1992, put away money to 25 

relocate the Canterbury Kart Club from the time that the Council took 

over from Paparua County Council, and they have had this ongoing for 

over 20 years and so that’s what we did, but we now find that with the 

Kart Club – and over the whole 20 years they haven’t been able to find 

a site.  30 

 

 Many, many sites have been looked at but no site without really, really 

major problems, there’s just none there. Even in the 1999 City Plan, 

when that was actually notified, prior to that, to the hearings, it was 

Bob Nixon who gave evidence for the Council, who said that there was 35 

nowhere in Canterbury, nowhere in Christchurch, that you could 

relocate without major, major difficulties.  

 

 So the area now being New Neighbourhood and with a constraint is in 

a void, it just cannot be developed economically, and some have tried 40 

and there is one lot that got a consent, but no, no one will touch it 

because right around the area has the noise.  

 

 So that is all, everything in our submission, in our evidence really, we 

have covered, so we don’t really want to go over and over and over it 45 

with you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you for that. So effectively, the Association and 

land owners, am I right to understand, those land owners feel in a limbo 

situation because their land isn’t currently developed and its potential 

for development as Residential is practically impossible because of the 5 

noise issues? 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, and the Kart Club have a lease until 2054, so basically 

it’s another 39 years that they could actually be there and it could just 

sit there, yes, so we can’t really do it as Residential, then we can’t go as 10 

Business, it just sits there, and this land has been identified right from 

1980 in the south west area plan and in the other one. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is that plan that is on the screen at the moment that is 20 

the correct plan, is it, for the area? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is it south of there? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Further south. 25 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, yes, that’s it there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if you wanted the arrow to go where the Kart Club is 

located. 30 

 

MS STIELLER:   It is in the lime green, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In the lime green.  And the Association of Landowners’ 

properties, if you were to draw a circle around - - - 35 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, Halswell Junction road, it is Mcteigue Road, Halswell 

Junction Road, Wigram Road, so all of those, and also up on the other 

side of the lime green – it is all south Awatea, which is – south of the 

motorway, sorry, all of that land there.  Except just beside the 40 

motorway up on the right-hand side, that’s where Fletchers are 

developing their affordable housing and that is just beyond the 

120 metres that is needed as a buffer with the Kart Club. 
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MS DAWSON:   Can I ask, could you identify where – there is a rule isn’t 

there, that there is a buffer around the Kart Club while the Kart Club – 

where does that go on that plan?  How far does the buffer extend? 

 

MS STIELLER:   Well, it does extend for 300 metres which is the whole lot 5 

but they do give a non-compliance for 120 metres.  And they have 

given the 120 metres because the Kart Club were going but from 

Marshall Day they are saying it should be really extended and even into 

the Fulton Hogan and in Westlake, yes. 

 10 

 So until the Kart Club go then they basically control us really, yes.  

And we understand under section 16 of the Resource Management Act, 

the Council as territorial authority, are the custodians of the Act, have a 

duty of care to protect the neighbourhood and the environment from 

adverse effects which include noise.  But we, as residents, think that the 15 

Council actually protects their tenant so as to not to have to deal with 

all of this.  

 

 All the time we are having meetings with the Council.  They always 

seem to be with the – they’ve got a lease, they’ve got a lease, they’ve 20 

got a lease. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well I’ll see if other Panel members have got 

questions.  There may be a few others.  Ms Huria? 

 25 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, no, Sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I just have one really.  You may have covered it earlier on and 30 

forgive me if you did.  Clearly the current proposal zones it residential.  

When was the first time you acknowledged that it was zoned for 

residential purposes, the land?  How far back does it go? 

 

MS STIELLER:   That we applied for it or? 35 

 

MR DELLACA:   Plan change 5. 

 

MS STIELLER:   Plan change 5 was in 2012, just after the earthquake but all 

the hearings and that were in the December just after the earthquakes. 40 

 

MR WILLIS:   And prior to that it was a Rural zoning I take it? 

 

MS STIELLER:   No, no, it was a Special Purposes zone, that was zoned by 

the Council and it was to actually work out or resolve all of the 45 
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constraints, (INDISTINCT 4.17) constraints but this one seems to be 

the one that they do not seem to be able to resolve. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly.  Mr Huria has a question for you. 

 5 

MS HURIA:   Sorry, thank you, yes.  When did the Council renew the lease for 

the Kart Club? 

 

MS STIELLER:   1988. 

 10 

MS HURIA:   ‘88? 

 

MS STIELLER:   1988, yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   There was nothing in between now and 1988? 15 

 

MS STIELLER:   Now and 1988, 1988 they gave them a 33 year lease with 

right of renewal of 33. 

 

MS HURIA:   Right of renewal. 20 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, yes.  And they gave them that lease because the kart 

club has actually been there since about 1962 and they have been given 

just leases.  But the Kart Club wanted certainty. 

 25 

  [11.25 am] 

 

 And you can understand that.  But in the archives – I have actually 

searched the archives and the reports that went to Council said that 

residential right around the boundary of the Kart Club was acceptable.  30 

 

 So then they gave the lease, which was supposed to be done under the 

1977 Town and Country Planning Act, which should have been 

publicly notified and consultation with the residents but nothing was 

done.  It was actually really done behind closed doors so, we as 35 

residents – because my family has been there since 1956 – we as 

residents, only found out about that about 1990.  And then we were 

rather disappointed in what had happened. 

 

 So that is why the Council in 1992, when the Christchurch City 40 

Council took over from the Paparua County Council, they actually put 

$600,000 aside for the relocation of the Kart Club and from then on, 

the money has been increased, increased and trying to find a site and 

they have not been able to because there are always problems.   

 45 
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 And so that is why we then, since 2012 when we have had the new 

neighbourhood, is we as the Association, just said well, this is not 

working and we approached the Council with an option to go, maybe 

business would be a good option.  And the planners, including 

Mr Stevenson, said, yes, they agreed to go to the District Plan review 5 

was the best way forward for us. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Ms Dawson has got a question, I think. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just following on from your comment just then, and you said 

in your presentation that you have been meeting with the planners, even 

just this last week. 

 15 

MS STIELLER:   On Friday. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So if I understand it, the problem that the planners are 

now conveying to you, I think you talked about the Land Use Recovery 

Plan and the Regional Policy Statement, this is identified as a 20 

Greenfields Residential area.  Are they expressing a problem with those 

Higher Order documents to say that there would be a problem to rezone 

it to an Industrial purpose? 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because of how it is recognised? 

 

MS STIELLER:   It is the Canterbury Regional Policy statement that they 

cannot - - - 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Cannot switch it, in other words? 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, until that has been actually gone through their - - - 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   This review, which is coming up at the moment. 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.   40 

 

MR DELLACA:   I’ll just come in here for a moment.  We represent all the 

residents, as we have pointed out, and what we really cannot 

understand, we have got one resident who has made a very similar 

application, in Carrs Road.  And he wishes to change part of his 45 

Greenfields Residential to Commercial. And the Council are supporting 
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that application.  And at our meeting last Friday, we asked for them to 

clarify the difference between the two blocks of land.  And really they 

could not.   

 

 So, on one hand, we have got them supporting one resident to have a 5 

change from priority Greenfields Residential to Commercial and we 

have got another group of residents who have been denied that right.  

We are finding it very difficult to figure out what is going on. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it does seem that the Greenfields Residential areas do 10 

often include little pockets of commercial - - - 

 

MR DELLACA:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - whereas I guess what we’re saying, that you are asking 15 

for a large chunk to be changed to Industrial Business, from 

Residential. 

 

MR DELLACA:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   But anyway, I mean we cannot resolve these statutory issues 

here.   

 

MR DELLACA:   I appreciate that but what we really cannot follow is a rule is 

a rule is a rule. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR DELLACA:   And if the existing Greenfields Priority Residential in 

Halswell Junction Road cannot be changed to Business, how can a 30 

piece in Carrs Road be changed to Business? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just ask you one more question.  As you look at that 

plan to the west, I guess it is, off Mcteigue’s Road, and in that triangle 

between the motorway, Halswell Junction and Mcteigue’s, it’s white, 35 

that is Industrial? 

 

MR DELLACA:   Yes, B7. 

 

  [11.30 am] 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   B7, and I think that has been rolled over as Industrial 

General, I think, in the new plan.  So those are Industrial but then – and 

the part of the rural neighbourhood zone that you would like to be 

Industrial is adjoining Mcteigue Road, wrapped around the go-kart part 45 

there? 
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MR DELLACA:   Yes, because as Kate pointed out, the Council cannot find a 

site for the go-karts.  They have been trying for over 20 years.  If that 

was actually changed to Light Industrial, the go-karts do not need to go.  

They can still function.  It would work for everybody. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one more question.  In your most recent discussions with 

the Council, including Mr Stevenson, where they have said it sounds 

like a good idea but there is this problem about doing it now - - - 

 10 

MR DELLACA:   That’s right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - have they indicated that there is something that might be 

able to be taken forward through this review of the - - - 

 15 

MR DELLACA:   No, they did not support at all.  

 

MS DAWSON:   They do not support - - - 

 

MR DELLACA:   They do not support it. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - trying to get it done through the review of the - - - 

 

MR DELLACA:   We asked them how we could work with them and they just 

said they do not support it. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  That at least keeps us informed. 

 

MR DELLACA:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 

MS STIELLER:   Can I just comment?  Right at the beginning when we started 

our negotiation with Council, South Awatea was Industrial.  Then, just 

before we actually were going into zoning it, they decided – and 35 

through the South-West Area Plan in the Urban Development Strategy 

– I have remembered the name now – they decided that that area could 

possibly be Residential. 

 

 And that area that you just point out at Mcteigue Road, they wanted 40 

that as Residential too but one of the – I think it is Citadel, which is a 

developer, had actually got a resource consent prior to it actually going 

into the permanent zoning and it was still the Special Purpose Zone, 

and they managed to get that through.  So it sort of had to be all 

changed. 45 
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 So it has been on the cards that it could be Industrial or some kind of 

zoning that was compatible with the Kart Club.  If the Kart Club do not 

take up the offer – and the offer, too, is really half of what they want, 

and they haven’t got a site.  

 5 

 It is on the cards – as far as the residents are concerned we would be 

quite surprised if they actually take it up.  But you never know. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It sounds like from your comments that you are aware of 

the review process under the Regional Policy Statement and so forth - - 10 

- 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and we have discussed that.  And you are aware, 15 

aren’t you, that it is the Regional Council’s document and it is a 

Regional Council responsibility to review, but in conjunction with the 

territorial authorities?   Have you - - - 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes, we have actually submitted into there. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so you have had discussions with the Regional 

Council? 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes.  Well, we had said that we would submit, but we 25 

understand from Mr Stevenson that the Regional Council, with the 

LURP, are making the area indicative and it could be a possibility for it 

to be rezoned then. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are aware of those processes - - - 30 

 

MS STIELLER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and would be engaged in them? 

 35 

MS STIELLER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it is a difficult conundrum for you.  I think we have 

probably covered our questions.  We will obviously give careful 

consideration to the complexities you have got.  Certainly, I can 40 

understand the reverse sensitivity, as we call it, relationship between 

your interests and the go-kart club in terms of land development.   

 

 So, thank you very much.  Has that covered all the points you wanted 

to cover? 45 
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MS STIELLER:   Yes.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS STIELLER:   Thank you very much for hearing us. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

<KAY STIELLER AND PETER DELLACA WITHDREW [11.34 am] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We are right on the morning recess time.  We will take 

that now, and Mr Mora we will hear from you.  Is Ms Broughton 

coming in or just yourself? 

 

MR MORA:   No, Sir, it is just me, and my submission is very similar to the 15 

Awatea residents.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  You can have a good chat over the morning 

break and we will see you after it.  Thank you. 

 20 

ADJOURNED [11.35 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.52 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Apologies for that little bit of lateness there. Now, so 25 

Mr Mora, I’ll just make sure we’ve got our bits and pieces.  
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<MIKE MORA [11.53 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Welcome again, Mr Mora. We’ve got a copy of a 

document in front of us which is the submission and if you could just 

identify which part of the submission you are speaking to today? 

 

MR MORA:   In fact, Sir, our submission is more in relation to our original 5 

submission 254 which supports the Awatea Residents’ Association 

over this matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So 254, your original submission, I don’t actually have a 

copy of your original submission in front of me so what we have got is 10 

your submission 2363 - - - 

 

MR MORA:   Yes, and it does not specify this matter that is before us today. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well - - - 15 

 

MR MORA:   I did appear on the schedule to be here, and I was aware that the 

Awatea Residents Association, Sir, because our Community Board has 

been working very, very closely with the Awatea Residents’ 

Association. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well, look just in terms of due process though, so 

this hearing is about this Stage 2 Commercial Industrial, on which your 

submission to that is a thing you can speak to, you are not entitled to go 

back to what you spoke to in your submissions on which we have 25 

already heard matters, because that’s already done, we’ve already heard 

on that. 

 

MR MORA:   Okay. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  While you might have some sympathy for another 

submitter, that doesn’t mean you have a basis for speaking to that in 

terms of your submission, you can speak to the points in your 

submission for this particular round, and that’s it.  

 35 

MR MORA:   Unfortunately, Sir, when I read through our submission in 

relation to this matter it did not appear that we had anything of major 

interest on this matter in our submission and our Board Advisor did 

advise me that she had actually withdrawn our interest in appearing 

here today, but I did not want to let the Panel down by not appearing 40 

today. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you are not letting us down, but I am just sort of 

saying to you, thank you very much, but given that you don’t have any 

legitimate interest in this round, that’s all we can really hear from you, 45 
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unless you wanted to speak to anything in this. It is a matter of due 

process. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 5 

MR MORA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have obviously heard the other submitter, you’ve 

heard us hear them and listen to their issues and that’s - - - 

 10 

MR MORA:   I do understand the process and I am very apologetic. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you don’t need to apologise, but I just want to make 

sure we follow due process, that is all. Thank you. 

 15 

MR MORA:   Thank you, Sir. 

 

<MIKE MORA WITHDREW [11.55 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms Garza? She’s not here till 12.30 pm, all right. So 20 

now we have got a break until 12.30 pm, I don’t think there is anyone 

else? Generation Zero? All right.  

 

 Now, I’ll just make sure I’ve got Generation Zero’s papers. I’ve got 

Maunder, Garza - 2448, yes, no, that’s fine. I’m okay, I’ve got it now.  25 

 

 So, good morning, Mr Muir. 
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MR MUIR:   Hello. Yes, I am here on behalf of Generation Zero and the other 

submitters listed in our submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MR MUIR:   The first thing I want to say is that we’re aware that our 

submission presents some tricky bound with regards to the provisions 

of the Building Act, particularly section 18. Unfortunately, I wasn’t 

able to attend the mediation on this point, so for what it’s worth, my 

interpretation of that section as a second year law student, is that 10 

basically on the other Acts, in contradiction with the Building Act, 

should be able to override its provisions, and as a result, the 

suggestions in our submission would be ineffective if the Building Act 

is read that way, I don’t know what the conclusions of the mediation 

were though, so. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, just pause a minute on this, I just want to catch up. So 

is your starting position on things that the Building Act is not an 

exclusive code and, therefore, we are entitled to and we should 

consider - - - 20 

 

MR MUIR:   No, what I am saying is that my own interpretation of the Act, 

and like I said I wasn’t at the mediation so I don’t know if there were 

any actual conclusions on what it means, but that essentially any 

regulation that contradicts the Building Act can’t be enforced because it 25 

is not an Act that expressly – well, it’s not an Act and only Acts can 

contradict the Building Act, does that make sense? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 30 

MR MUIR:   So what I am saying is if that is the conclusion of the Panel, then 

our submission is just rendered ineffective. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, you shouldn’t assume that’s the conclusion of the 

Panel. 35 

 

MR MUIR:   Yes, I guess I am just bringing up that point because I know that 

it was brought up by other submitters in relation to our submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Well, here is your opportunity to express what 40 

Generation Zero seeks from the Panel. 

 

MR MUIR:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Don’t hold yourself back by an interpretation of the law 45 

which may or may not be correct.  
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MR MUIR:   Yeah, I am saying I will address the other arguments against our 

submission in case this whole Building Act thing - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, I could accuse you of beating yourself up 5 

otherwise.  

 

MR MUIR:   Okay, so on to the other arguments against our submission, the 

complexity of having multiple building standards was an argument 

raised by Bruce Klein in his evidence for the Crown.  We found it hard 10 

to disagree with that but at the same time we believe that the standards 

of buildings, both residential and commercial and industrial, need to be 

raised and we think that it would be unfortunate to see an opportunity 

to do this squandered, especially when it is clear, at least to 

Generation Zero, the way that we currently build is unsustainable. 15 

 

 Mr Klein, in his evidence, says that he considers non-regulatory 

promotion of better sustainability superior to the changes that we have 

proposed, he also mentions modifying the Building Code, although this 

is kind of out of the scope of this forum. 20 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

 We suggest that it would not be particularly complicated to table 

differences in the Building Code and the District Plan for those whom 25 

it affects and in fact Mr Kline (ph 0.19) had done that in his rebuttal 

evidence on one or two things so we think that is actually not too 

difficult.   

 

 That said, we are not opposed to other methods of promoting 30 

sustainability obviously and would happily discuss other ways to do 

that via the District Plan. 

 

 In spite of that, if the District Plan review was concluded and the 

resource efficiency provisions were entirely removed with no other 35 

alternative way of promoting resource efficiency, we would not be able 

to give the plan our full support. 

 

 On to one of the other arguments against our submission, regarding the 

Strategic Directions objective 3.3.2 and also the Statement of 40 

Expectations A2, the suggestions of those two provisions are that our 

suggested changes are inconsistent.  To restate the argument that was 

made in our submission, both of those provisions emphasise that 

prescriptiveness is reduced in order to encourage innovation and 

choice. We do not believe that providing people with the ability to 45 

build outdated and substandard buildings encourages innovation and 
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the choice to do that is actually just not worth protecting, just like we 

do not protect the choice to build unsafe buildings through minimum 

fire safety standards. 

 

 In response to the further rebuttal evidence of Mr Kline, he argued that 5 

minimum standards are ineffective in the context of industrial 

buildings.  We actually agree with Mr Kline on that point, that 

enforcing minimum insulation standards in certain environments, like 

factories or warehouses, would be ineffective to the nature of those 

environments, like big open space rooms with doors and that kind of 10 

thing.   

 

 However, the provision to which our amendments apply, 16.8.1.2, is 

part of the section which excludes industrial activity, warehousing, 

distribution activities and service industries.  As well as that, the text 15 

within the provision limits its application to office activities so we do 

not agree with Mr Kline on that point at least. 

 

 So, to summarise, we are aware of the difficulties brought by the 

overlap of the Building Code and the resource efficiency provisions. In 20 

spite of this, if our submission is not doomed by the Building Act, then 

we could be keen to see some non-regulatory promotion of 

sustainability and energy efficiency although we would still argue that 

the provisions that we have suggested would be ideal. 

 25 

 To re-emphasise one of the points from within our submission, there is 

a need for sustainable practices to become the norm now and we have 

an unprecedented opportunity to do that here in Christchurch, 

obviously with the rebuild and with this District Plan review going on.  

Eventually local bodies and Government will have to make some 30 

difficult choices on sustainability instead of just talking about how they 

are big fans of it so we think that now is a good time to do it and that is 

all I have got to say on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much for that, Mr Muir. 35 

 

MR MUIR:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It was very clear.  I will just test with the other Panel 

members the questions anyone has.  Ms Dawson? 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you, Mr Muir, my questions were all going to be 

around Mr Kline’s rebuttal and whether you had looked at that and 

your responses, but you have done that in your presentation, so thank 

you very much indeed for that. 45 
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MR MUIR:   Thank you. 

 

MS HURIA:   Nothing for me, thank you, Sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Willis? 5 

 

MR WILLIS:   I will just ask one brief question.  Just at the end of your 

presentation, Mr Muir, you did mention you were looking at 

non-regulatory or considered non-regulatory matters promoting the 

resource efficiency standards and guidelines.  Are there any other 10 

avenues of that or can you tell us more about how you propose to do 

that in terms of what other options might be available for achieving 

these sorts of outcomes? 

 

MR MUIR:   I am actually not sure. It was actually – Mr Kline actually 15 

suggested in his own evidence that he was a fan of those things and 

basically I am just saying I am open to that.  I do not know whether that 

is best achieved through the District Plan or something else, but like I 

said, I think it would be a shame if the District Plan did not promote 

resource efficiency in some way, whether it is through hard regulations 20 

or something else.   

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

 I am not a law expert or anything like that so I do not know what all the 25 

options are in terms of the District Plan and the way it can promote 

those things but I would like them to be in there. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I have one question in my mind, Mr Muir.  You may 

or may not be able to help me with it but I have not looked recently at 

the purpose and design of the Building Act.  Have you had a chance to 

look at that in terms of whether it is set up as a means of providing for 

this range of matters or is it less than adequate in terms of what its 35 

purpose is and what it can achieve by regulation?  (INDISTINCT 

1.18) on that. 

 

MR MUIR:   In terms of the resource efficiency subject at least, the Building 

Code is pretty insufficient in bringing minimum standards up at least to 40 

what we would see as a good level. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You mention the Building Code. 

 

MR MUIR:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   If you go back to the Act under which that is made, do 

you think, is that inadequacy in the Code simply the Code or is it 

because the Act limits its capacity to be any more than it is? 

 

MR MUIR:   I suppose you could look at it both ways.  If the Act allowed 5 

regulations like the District Plan to be enforced, then that would be a 

pretty good solution but at the same time, if the Building Code itself 

enforced, say, nationwide standards similar to what we were suggesting 

in our submission then that would be an equally good solution, so it 

could be approached either way. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you know whether the latter option is available within 

the scope of the Building Act? 

 

MR MUIR:   I am not sure.  Like I say, I am not exactly an expert on the 15 

Building Act. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you for that honesty and it helps us, but 

nevertheless, it is an interesting question and maybe some of the other 

lawyers can help us with that sort of thing. 20 

 

MR MUIR:   Yes, well I had not actually considered it until, like I say, 

Bruce Kline brought it up.  He mentioned modifying the Building Code 

which I had not considered as an option and obviously it is not an 

option within this forum. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, thank you very much for taking the trouble to come 

along.  We appreciate Generation Zero’s interest in the plan. 

 

MR MUIR:   Thanks. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And particularly, it does suggest quite a commitment to 

come along on such a lovely day and to spend time with us on these 

issues and it does tell us something about your organisation which is 

very positive. 35 

 

MR MUIR:   Well, it is a nice break from studying law for me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 40 

MR MUIR:   Cool, thank you. 

 

<MR MUIR WITHDREW [12.09 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right so, now, Ms Maunder, I think, how are you?   45 
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MS MAUNDER:   Good. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good, so you have come up a bit early.  Are you able to, 

all right, you are welcome both to come up if you wish to a microphone 

so you can speak to your points.  So your submission relates to 5 

New Brighton. 

 

MS MAUNDER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have not had a lot of presentation on New Brighton.  10 

The evidence of the Council was in on day one on this in regard to the 

issues New Brighton faces, which the Panel is generally familiar with, 

in terms of how it now looks and the challenges that it faces.  And your 

submission relates to the height limit, does it? 

 15 

MS MAUNDER:   That’s right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.   

 

MS MAUNDER:   Okay, thank you.  Yes, my name is Keryn Maunder and my 20 

husband is Allan McKercher and we have both flown down from 

Tauranga today just for the day to be heard and Allan would actually 

like to add to what after I have said mine if that is all right.  Thank you. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 25 

 

 I specialise in retirement villages and along with my first husband we 

have actually developed three retirement villages in Tauranga.  So that 

is just a little background. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS MAUNDER:   At the end of 2003, I was approached by a local friend who 

felt that New Brighton was an area just waiting for a development to 

happen.  Consequently, I now own nine properties in the residential 35 

area of New Brighton. 

 

 We had plans drawn for a high-rise complex that had an entrance off 

Oram Avenue at the rear and incorporated from the Hood Street corner 

north to 232 Marine Parade. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, what we might do now, Ms Maunder, is just 

identify where all this is on the plan in front of us. 

 

MS MAUNDER:   Sure. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I can see Hood Street to the bottom of the plan. 

 

MS MAUNDER:   Yes, so on Marine Parade - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Marine Parade to the right. 5 

 

MS MAUNDER:  Yes, so from there, including the corner of Hood Street, 

back. 

 

MR……….:   Running north? 10 

 

MS MAUNDER:   Yes, running north. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Running north, so back up Marine Parade? 

 15 

MS MAUNDER:   Yes. 

 

MR……….:   And it is in that block there are nine properties? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes? 20 

 

MS MAUNDER:   There are six properties along Marine Parade, from Hood 

Street, and then there are three on Oram Avenue behind. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oram, I see.  I was just wondering where Oram Avenue 25 

was.  That has popped up now. 

 

MS MAUNDER:   Yes, and the 239 properties.  We believe that this stretch of 

houses would be amongst the worst in New Brighton, so to remove 

them and put an upmarket, modern development would create a 30 

massive change to the face of New Brighton. 

 

 We had initially thought that we would apply for resource consent for 

the over-height development that we had the plans prepared for.  

However, we then discovered that Christchurch City Council were 35 

doing a plan change to increase the building height to 20 metres.   

 

 So we were advised by our then town planners that the sensible and 

most cost effective way forward would be to wait until that plan change 

took effect, which took a lot longer than we had anticipated. 40 

 

 Then before our development could get underway, the earthquake 

struck, and as the whole of Christchurch was in such turmoil it was not 

the right time to commence with such a project. 

 45 
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 Then just recently the bombshell hit that Christchurch City Council are 

now endeavouring to reduce the building height from the 20 metres 

they had gone through the entire process to put into place, and now 

back down to 12 metres. 

 5 

 To me this makes absolutely no sense when so much ratepayers’ 

money had already been spent in doing all the studies to increase the 

height, and then just five years later another big chunk of ratepayers’ 

money is being spent to refute all the conclusions that Christchurch 

City Council had come up with to increase the height. 10 

 

 If this plan change was to proceed, developers in the future will be 

having to build in a risk factor to cover these sorts of things being dealt 

to with the planners.  To me, it is simply unacceptable to have such a 

significant changes made on such a random basis, and it has the 15 

potential to blight good development proposals in the wider 

Christchurch area. 

 

 We have held on to these properties for over 11 years now, through the 

worst adversities, and just when it seems that we would have a clear 20 

go-ahead to do a development, Christchurch City Council have thrown 

this at us. 

 

 If the height restriction was to go ahead, it would cripple our 

development plans in New Brighton, as it would likely halve the 25 

amount of apartments that we could build in a development. 

 

 There appears to be only two other submissions from the public 

regarding this proposed height reduction.  One is strongly supporting 

my stand, for the reason of advancing New Brighton.   30 

 

 The other, second, one is from a Mrs Werner (ph 4.24), stating she is 

supporting the height reduction.  But to me it does not seem consistent 

with her reasons for the submission where she says, “I love New 

Brighton and want to see the whole place improved and developed to 35 

become the seaside tourist town it could easily be”.  In fact, she gives 

no supporting argument as to how height reductions would support her 

objective of improving New Brighton. 

 

 On behalf of Christchurch City Council, planner Mark Stevenson says 40 

in his evidence in 12.26, “in hindsight, this is seeking deletion of the 

overlay notified in Stage 1, which I understand is beyond what is 

allowed for under the order of Council”. 
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  [12.15 pm] 

 

 In his 12.28 he says, “Maunder is opposing to reduce height limits for 

both commercial and residential areas of New Brighton.  The submitter 

states that retention of the existing height limits is consistent with the 5 

strategic planning framework including policy 15.1.1.1 of the 

commercial chapter; provides for increased housing opportunities and 

greater certainty and flexibility for developers.” 

 

 Then Mark. in his 12.29. says, “Mr Zenon (ph 0.55) notes in his 10 

submission that lowering the heights is playing planning gymnastics 

and there is little perceivable positive outcome. He suggests that 

changing in the planning rules will not entice investment or encourage 

change.” 

 15 

 Then in Mark’s 12.36, he says, “I therefore conclude that a permitted 

height limit of 12 metres remains the most appropriate in achieving the 

objectives. It is recommended that the submission of Werner is 

accepted and that of Maunder is rejected.” 

 20 

 I just want to repeat Werner’s statement in her submission, “I love New 

Brighton and want to see the whole place improved and developed to 

become the seaside tourist town it could easily be”.  And I do not see 

that there is any substance in her submission. 

 25 

 I recently engaged a town planner, Fiona Aston, to assist me in 

opposing this, and in an email to me last Friday she said, “I agree it is 

extremely confusing even for myself and I am a supposed expert 

working on the Replacement Plan on an ongoing basis.  I took it from 

Mark’s email dated 7 September that the height limits for the RMD 30 

overlay area were staying at 20 metres, as that is what the Stage 1 

provisions proposed.  From the subsequent correspondence that you 

have forwarded to me, that is not the case.” 

 

 If such an expert as Fiona is confused with the situation, then I feel 35 

there is a serious problem. 

 

 I believe that the proposed rule change would negatively impact the 

value of the residential properties in the zone, and as I own nine 

residential properties in the zone, if this height reduction was to be put 40 

in place, I would have to challenge any decision reducing the height 

limits in the Residential Zone. 

 

 From the above you can see that I am totally opposed to a reduced 

residential building height and I wish it to remain at 20 metres.   45 

] 
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 My husband, Allan, would like to speak now if that is all right? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Certainly we have got a clear understanding of your 

concerns.  Is there anything you would like to add? 

 5 

MS MAUNDER:   I think I have said my bit. 

 

<MS MAUNDER WITHDREW [12.18 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are welcome to add some comments, if you wish, on 10 

that. 
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<ALLAN McKERCHER [12.18 pm] 
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MR McKERCHER:  Yes, it is okay to sort of speak, sort of adding to what 

Keryn has already said a little? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Within the boundaries of time and relevance to the 

submission, I suppose.  We are not wanting to be restrictive on you. 5 

 

MR McKERCHER:  Yes.  I am a trained professional engineer, I am a member 

of IPENZ and previously I have worked as a strategic infrastructural 

planner for the planning unit at Palmerston North City Council 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just pause there.  If you are about to get into areas of 

expert judgement, just bear in mind that we cannot receive your 

evidence as an expert on that basis. 

 

MR McKERCHER:   I understand that, but I am really just supporting Keryn 15 

as her husband, if that is any help. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, sure. 

 

MR McKERCHER:   What I would like to do is just address some points that 20 

have come up in Mark’s report.  The first, I would say is, again – sorry, 

this might be repeating a wee bit – but we have been through Plan 

Change 27. There is a lot of evidence put forward there supporting that, 

and now here five years’ down the track we are flipping the coin.  I 

know it has landed a different.  It just does not stack for me. 25 

 

 If you are thinking in more of a strategic long term sense of what you 

want, the chopping and changing just really does not wash with 

developers wanting certainty for investment. 

 30 

 There will be provisions provided in the District Plan which address 

some of the issues, or potential adverse effects, such as setbacks from 

the boundary, daylighting requirements and the like, so the existing 

plan already has some of those provisions in place. 

 35 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 There is a concern regarding a bell shaped effect of having a Higher 

Commercial Area Reduced Residential Area on the flank, sort of 

whether you look at it from the coast or wherever, that bell shaped 40 

effect could still be maintained in the Residential Area leaving it at 

20 metres if the Commercial Area is reduced, and I think it could be 

noted here that Keryn isn’t adversely opposed to a reduction in heights 

in the Commercial Area as such, she is really targeting the Residential 

Area.  45 
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 In 12.3, the reduced height limits proposed provide a balance between 

enabling development. I am at a loss to see how reduced height limits 

actually enable development, and I don’t believe there has been any 

evidence put forward supporting that.  

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that’s in 12.3? I am just trying to find that one actually. 

Anyway, hearing the general point you make, I’m not sure if the 

paragraph reference is right, but I understand that’s fair of his evidence, 

yes. 

 10 

MR McKERCHER:   All right. Okay. 12.3.1, there is a statement, retention of 

the operator flight limits, 20-30 metres would support intensification. 

We flew in this morning, we came in from the east over New Brighton 

and you look down and you see the centre is close to the coast, so half 

of sort of the catchment area in a sense is lost to the sea, you look back 15 

on the inside coming in, as you probably have when you’ve been flying 

in and out, you see all the land now that is vacant, and here we are, we 

are now wanting to drop from 20 metres down to 9-12 metres or 

whatever it is, you are effectively halving the potential to intensify 

development there.  20 

 

 My comment would be that really the Council is shooting themselves 

in the foot there, they are wanting people living out there, using 

facilities there and the like and really it would be very difficult to build 

up your numbers there using the area when there’s the reduced 25 

intensification, there’s been a lot of land loss there already, Urban 

Area, and I would’ve thought it would’ve been totally appropriate to 

maintain the proposed height limits.  

 

 There appears to be a notion here, the previous submitter had used the 30 

comment “planning gymnastics”, and there’s a statement here in 

12.3.2, a reduced height limit would constrain the permitted scale of 

development which may increase consenting requirements and 

associated compliance costs. That’s an additional cost that we, as 

developers, would be required to wear in terms of doing that.  35 

 

 I understand there is currently a development proposed at the north end 

of the block we’re looking at and we’ve been talking with these people 

this morning and they’ve been having significant issues getting plans 

through the Council on that.  40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR McKERCHER:  That basically wraps up the comments I would like to 

add, thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So we have time for some questions. All right, 

so I will just test on questions from the Panel.  

 

 Just to make an initial observation though, that we will obviously give 

careful consideration, Ms Maunder, to the question about due process 5 

in regard to Stage 1 and Stage 2, it’s something we need to give some 

careful thought to.  

 

 Ms Dawson? 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Maunder. I just want to be absolutely clear, 

when I read your submission form I think I got slightly confused, as I 

think Mr Stevenson might also, as to whether or not you are interested 

in the height limits in both the Commercial and Residential Zones or 

really your concern is just about the Residential Zone? 15 

 

MS MAUNDER:   My real concern is just the Residential Zone. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Residential Zone, yes. 

 

MS MAUNDER:   I don’t have any interest in the Commercial Zone. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the Commercial Zone, all right, so that’s good to have that 25 

clarified because I think that’s – when I read what Mr Stevenson said, 

on the one hand he’s saying there’s difficulty, as the Judge just said, 

about the process around the Residential side, but we also still have to 

turn our mind to the Commercial side as well. But that is not your area 

of interest. 30 

 

MS MAUNDER:   No, it is not. 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, thank you very much for clarifying that, that’s really 

good to hear. That is all from me, thank you. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Nothing from me, thank you, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Hello. I think you may have noted Mr Stevenson’s evidence in 

paragraph 12.33, where he does make the point that Council is not 

opposed to taller buildings above 12 metres, particularly if they provide 45 

additional residential capacity, and this is signalled in an additional 
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matter of discretion under the reference rule there, so I understand him 

to be saying that whilst it is not the 12 or 20 metre limit here as a 

permitted activity standard, but in fact you can apply for consent to go 

above that, and I guess my question is, I think there may have been 

some reference to it in your presentation, but do you think that would 5 

be an unreasonable constraint on your ability to develop that land, to 

apply for consent as a restricted discretionary activity? 

 

MR McKERCHER:  Well, certainly I think that is a constraint, you know, if 

you’ve got it in the plan you can build to 20 metres or if the Council is 10 

happy for you to build to 20 metres, say it, and that’s what the current 

plan is. Introducing this sort of – saying, well, no, the height limit is 

12 metres but maybe you could go for resource consent and go higher 

if you wanted to, well, that’s uncertainty and developers don’t like that. 

 15 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay, and with a development of this sort of scale, would 

you say nine properties in this block, is that right? 

 

MR McKERCHER:   Yes, there are. 

 20 

MR WILLIS: And you would be looking to develop that as a single 

development or more than one? 

 

MR McKERCHER:   That’s the objective. 

 25 

MR WILLIS:  And would you normally expect a development of that scale to 

be able to do that sort of permitted activity, or would you normally 

expect that that may be something that would require a consent? 

 

MR McKERCHER:  Normally it would be probably a resource consent 30 

application required. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay. 

 

MR McKERCHER:   But if you can have it through an operating plan, it makes 35 

more sense to me. 

 

MR WILLIS:  Okay, and just one final question, just for my information, a 

20 metre limit would allow you, in that sort of development, how many 

storeys in a building? 40 

 

MR McKERCHER:   It would be probably six storey, I would guess, possibly 

seven.  

 

MR WILLIS:   Six-seven, and a 12 metre would be? 45 
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MR McKERCHER:  You’d be probably doing three or four, it sort of really 

depends, the function really depends on how you would fit the car 

parking in underneath and at what level your sort of ground floor would 

start at. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, no, that’s useful. That you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of follow on, we can check this, but do you 

know in the Werner submission, whether the submitter is located 

anywhere near this block? 10 

 

MS MAUNDER:   No, I don’t actually. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right. In terms of the proposal you had in mind for, 

was it a retirement village development concept? 15 

 

MS MAUNDER:   We are unsure at this stage. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Unsure. So does that mean, had you got to the point of 

determining what scale and size of development you propose for the 20 

sites? 

 

MR McKERCHER:   Well there have been plans prepared with a total of 42 

apartments. 

 25 

MS MAUNDER:   That was prior to purchasing 231 Marine Parade, too. 

 

MR McKERCHER:   That was on eight sections, but since that point there’s 

been an additional section purchased. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And how many apartments was that again? 

 

MR McKERCHER:  That was 42, and with the additional section you’d be 

probably looking at another four or five apartments, so you’re probably 

talking in the mid-40s. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And how many floors? 

 

MS MAUNDER:   That was six or seven, sorry, I am not sure, it was either six 

or seven. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  

 

MR McKERCHER:   We have Joan Werner’s submission here, her address 

here is given as 291 Marine Parade, which is not in that block. 45 
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  [12.30 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I see.  It is further to the south probably, beyond the 

next block or perhaps towards the end of that block.  Do you have any 

general observations apart from the ones you have made around the 5 

need to give development certainty about the challenges that New 

Brighton faces by way of rejuvenation?  Do you think that rejuvenation 

is needing to be assisted by a change of planning approach in other 

respects to what is there already, given the scale of the commercial area 

and the very poor building stock and the decay and the loss in the 10 

earthquakes? 

 

MR McKERCHER:  I would make the comment that some rejuvenation is 

basically underway.  We do not see it at the moment. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well certainly if we could just coming back so effectively 

the expert advice we have on this which is to the effect that one of the 

ingredients of rejuvenation is to make the place more compact and to 

encourage rejuvenation on that smaller but compact and workable scale 

in this context where New Brighton prior to the earthquakes if you like 20 

sprung up in various ways as a result of Saturday trading going back to 

the 60s. 

 

MR McKERCHER:   Yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN: Then losing that competitive advantage to find itself over 

bloated and now in a state of serious decay which seems very obvious 

to the eye when you go through the place. So apart from your particular 

issue in regard to height for the properties that you have an interest in, 

do you think that that sounds right that we need to have a more 30 

compact and focused commercial area in New Brighton? 

 

MS MAUNDER:  I feel that it needs to be now that there is so much land being 

lost with all those houses being removed after the earthquakes.  They 

need to intensify the good land that is remaining. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And do you think if that is achieved your property value in 

that area would be assisted? 

 

MS MAUNDER:   I am sure it would be. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MS MAUNDER:   I think it just needs somebody brave enough to go in there 

and start changing it. 45 
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MR McKERCHER: There is some development underway there and I 

understand has been consented for an apartment complex just at the 

north end of that block.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  It is fair to say looking at it it’s a dreadful looking place 5 

isn’t it, in a the commercial core.   

 

MR McKERCHER: Yes, but for a commercial core to work you need 

population there. You need the densification in the urban area and New 

Brighton has lost a lot of land or close by towards the estuary side 10 

anyway. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: And a lot of its customers now shop elsewhere.  

Surprisingly significantly more in a proportionate sense than elsewhere, 

even on a national scale according to the experts.  People prefer to go 15 

elsewhere for their goods. Well thank you very much for that and thank 

you for bringing attention to how this change impacts on you 

personally.  And we will have to, as I say, give careful thought to the 

procedural aspects of what your submission proposes, which to be fair 

to Mr Stevenson, he brought to our attention too.  Thank you. 20 

 

MS MAUNDER:   Thank you very much. 

 

<ALLAN McKERCHER WITHDREW [12.34 pm] 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms Garza, do you want to come forward.  

Welcome. 
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<MS GARZA [12.34 pm] 
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MS GARZA:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just as you get yourself seated I am just going to have a 

skim through your submission again. 

 5 

MS GARZA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right it might be helpful I think if the Secretariat brings 

up the Wooldridge Road business park area if it’s possible please. 

 10 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

 Right, Ms Garza we are just going to bring this up on the screen and 

then we can help orientate ourselves to your submission and the 

locality.  So Wooldridge Road and your concerns are in regard to how 15 

that Industrial Park change could impact on your in your amenities as 

call them. 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  While that is coming we will just hold for a moment.  So 

Wooldridge Road, that’s in the middle there.  So where the arrow is can 

you identify where you are particularly interested? 

 

MS GARZA:   I think I am where the purple is, I’m the first property so our 25 

whole section, the Urban Industrial runs the full length of our whole 

section there on the south side. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 30 

MS GARZA:   We are the first little residential house there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay so is it in the brown coloured? 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes, it is brown, that’s it. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  That’s it there, all right.  Thank you for that and what we 

might do next is bring that into Google view so we can see it in how the 

lie of the land is.  Okay, so you have got Nunweek Park across the 

road, great venue, and where is your property again? 40 

 

MS GARZA:   Where that red dot is, that’s us. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where the red dot is, okay.  And at the moment, is it still 

the case that you have got a hedge along that side with what looks like 45 

market gardening in behind that? 
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MS GARZA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  What’s growing in that area? 

 5 

MS GARZA:   Olive trees.  It is a, what do you call those properties where 

they just?  Lifestyle block, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, well thank you.  Basically if you want to 

just speak to the issues and concerns you’ve got. 10 

 

MS GARZA:  Yes, I was born on the road on Stanleys Road so I am very 

passionately – my brother had a market garden in that property beside 

us, my brother did own that and it had raspberries there so I cannot help 

my heart being involved in the area. 15 

 

 Specifically I would just like to list what I am going to lose is spatial 

height, how high the buildings are going to be along our section. 

 

 Privacy, will I lose privacy? Visually, will I be invaded by visually 20 

high buildings?  The other very important thing to me is noise. At the 

moment I do enjoy the birds, sorry that’s how it is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no that’s fine, yes. 

 25 

MS GARZA:   I am blessed to be able to enjoy morning chorus and a wide 

variety of birds, fantails and we do have morepork come in and so we 

have native, mainly the fantails and a wide variety of birdlife and that is 

very important to me. 

 30 

 The noise of the traffic which we already live with, you know six 

o’clock every morning, we live with that, but that will be increased.  

The congestion of the traffic, the increased traffic, already my husband 

has to, just to get out of the driveway and I already plan my day not to 

go out of my property at certain times because I know I’ll have a traffic 35 

jam just trying to get off Wooldrige Road. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do people use it as a commuter route or something? 40 

 

MS GARZA:  Yes, it is a very big commuter route.  When we first moved 

there it was you know rural but now early in the morning it’s a 

commuter route and after work, and then at lunchtimes, so I already 

have to plan my life around the traffic, and moving from Rural H to 45 
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Urban Industrial it is going to be – you know I am all out for progress 

but I am losing a way of life. 

 

 So if this does go ahead I just would like to propose if possible.  Thank 

you for allowing me to speak.  We have built a family unit, I have five 5 

children and our eldest one has a very severe mental illness where he 

works in this area but for his future we have built a family unit at the 

back of the property - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, I see. 10 

 

MS GARZA:  - - - so that he can be independent, considering we have got five 

other children, and beside us we do have a tar sealed driveway and I 

was just wondering if there could be any consideration of having access 

to that back family unit considering the tar sealed driveway does follow 15 

along that poplar line already, and just if we could be granted some sort 

of access to that family unit that we have built for him for when we are 

not here.   

 

 And I cannot emphasis that if this goes ahead, trees, trees, trees, trees. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, so the quality of, that tree edge, in terms of giving you 

a bit of a buffer. 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes, it is, exactly.  And I don’t know whether in any way you 25 

could consider, because our house is the only one that does, the Urban 

Industrial will follow the whole length of our section, if there is any 

way they could have a lesser height restriction to follow that length of 

our section. Thank you for the opportunity to be able to think of a small 

person who values beauty and quality of life. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, yes, no thank you very much Ms Garza.  Can you 

remind me again how long have you been on this property? 

 

MS GARZA:  26 years on there and it belonged to the family trust before that 35 

so it was 60 years on our, the Stanleys Road property went all the way 

through to Wooldridge Road.  It was the family property, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  From your perspective when you talked about building 

height along that boundary, do you have a sense of something that you 40 

would see as workable for you? 

 

MS GARZA:   Those two things.  It does not invade – for mental health visual 

is important to me – that doesn’t invade my visual, and that however 

high they cannot look down into the back of our property. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Your privacy aspects of that. 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes, the privacy, those two. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well those are things we can consider.  The question of the 5 

driveway easement to the property for your son, sorry for the 

development for your son, is not something we can help you with, it is 

really a matter between neighbours that one. 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes, that’s fine, yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   However I will ask if there are questions from the Panel 

because we do value what you have got to say and it is important to us 

to get a full understanding of it. 

 15 

MS GARZA:   Thank you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson do you have any questions? 

 

  [12.45 pm] 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you very much, Ms Garza, for coming along.  

Have you, I am just inquiring whether you have had any discussions 

with Mr Stevenson about the rules that have been introduced to apply 

along the boundary between this proposed new zone and your rural 25 

zone? 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes, I did go when the public were able to, you could go and 

talk to the people from the Council and how high the properties could 

go, yes.  Is it in your, it was very hard for me to visualise from the 30 

measurement. Are you saying to me that for the rules that those two 

aspects that are important to me will be - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well I have just noticed, I mean at the moment for all those 

sorts of zones there is just a general height limit of 15 metres. 35 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON: But there are some new rules been introduced for the 

boundary, along the boundary between this particular zone and the 40 

Wairakei Road Industrial Park zone and the adjoining Rural zone 

which is your property, which is a 10 metre building setback, and it is 

hard for anyone to envisage that.  And that 10 metres to be planted with 

two rows of trees in a landscaping strip so all I was just wondering is 

whether you have had a look at those - - - 45 
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MS GARZA:   Yes, I was aware - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:  - - - that the Council, certainly Mr Stevenson and the Council 

have put some provisions in - - - 

 5 

MS GARZA:   Buffer in there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - especially for that buffer and around the rest of the buffer 

between the rural and urban end in this zone.  But what you are saying 

is as much as possible please-. 10 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes that is very important.  You know I heard the gentleman 

talking before that they could get resource consent to go higher.  Those 

aspects of town planning are very important to me. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and thank you.  Thank you for reinforcing that for us, it 

is very helpful. 

 

MS GARZA:   Yes, thank you. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I’ll just check if there are any other questions.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Just a question from interest really.  The place that you have 

built at the back, is that the building that is on my far left there? 

 25 

MS GARZA:  No that might have been one of the historic homes. That was 

moved there by Mr McVicar.  It might not be there yet. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   An old Google. 

 30 

MS GARZA:   Because it hasn’t been completed yet.  It is right – it goes back 

to the tree line and go back to the actual building, it is about there and it 

runs along that tree line there.   

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No thanks, Commissioner Dawson asked my question so thank 

you. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Well thank you very much, Ms Garza. Thank you for 

coming along and telling us about those things and we will certainly 

consider them carefully when we come to look at the evidence on this 

again. 45 
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MS GARZA: Thank you. It makes me believe in democracy, being here.  

Thank you. 

 

<MS GARZA WITHDREW [12.49 pm] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It’s a pleasure.  All right, I think we have got to the end of 

business today but just in terms of tomorrow, Panel members are going 

to staff farewell so we are not going to start until 11.00 am if that is 

okay with everyone.  We have got 2.00 this afternoon as well. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that’s right, sir, and I just wanted to raise the issue 

of closing submissions.  I noted there was an email from the Secretariat 

this morning about closings. I was not intending to close either orally 

or in writing or deliver a formal closing tomorrow, partially for the 

reason that we may have to return. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, that’s right.  Sorry I fully appreciate what you are 

saying, we may well have to return. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  In which case I will discuss with the Secretariat a re-

scheduling of the closing date because I think it might have been a 

slight misunderstanding.  Closing cannot obviously occur until we have 

determined whether or not there are issues to be heard on the 19th, 20th 25 

or somewhere about there. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that’s right, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you. 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there any particular preference you have after that, in 

terms of ideal timing for closing?  Because there are one or two issues 

that we probably need to have a bit of a discussion around. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  I am in Your Honour’s hands.  On that particular 40 

matter, if we need to come back for a half day, it might be most 

efficient to file a written closing and then appear to answer any 

questions arising.  That would certainly be my preference. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, I will give some thought to that.  Then obviously 45 

Ms Crawford wants to have the opportunity to address us on the 
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requirements of giving effect to the Regional Policy Statement and so 

forth as well.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think it is important that we hear and test those issues, as 

I have indicated. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Absolutely, sir, yes.  Thank you for that.  That is very 

helpful. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I did signal to you that we would appreciate the Council’s 

help on the question of our powers and jurisdiction in regard to matters 

of making changes in regard to – well, one came up obviously today.  

There is a live issue as to Stage 1, Stage 2 in terms of process. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Indeed, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And I think there are other ones too, in terms of changes 

that Mr Stevenson recommends that go beyond the scope of 20 

submissions in a couple of places.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I take it you are referring to New Brighton? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mm. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I think, if I can put the position there or clarify the 

position, it is that Mr Stevenson has addressed the merits of 

submissions in any event but has hopefully or tried to make it clear that 

he believes there is a jurisdictional constraint on the recommendation 30 

he had otherwise made - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  - - - in relation to Stage 2 and reduction of the height 35 

limits. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is just in the Residential Zone though, isn’t it? 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  I think we need to just always remember that there are 

the two height reductions. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in other words, on the merits he thinks it should be 5 

reduced but he appreciates the jurisdictional question that actually 

probably bars that? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  That is right, because this was not foreshadowed in the 

residential Stage 1 hearing and of course the reduction was not notified. 10 

 

 One a separate matter, we have spoken about Mr Hughes-Johnson’s 

client, Knight (ph 2.31), and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I understand you have been - - - 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - dealing with Sir John Hansen - - - 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - the Honourable Chair on that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that is correct.  In the morning, an 11.00 o’clock 25 

start in the morning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I make a note? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Oh, yes.  I see what you mean.  I think that might have 30 

been – sorry, at 9.00 o’clock, is it? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that is fine.  Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Can I just remind about one other matter, which was the 35 

properties going out to Harewood Road from this Wairakei Industrial 

Park Zone, it was the question that – we were asking for your help as to 

the scope to remove them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I can give a legal view on that now, which is that there 

is no scope because the Council needs to have made a submission and 

it has not done so and it cannot use its duty of assisting the Panel to 

provide the jurisdiction. 45 
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 The Panel may decide on the merits, given the discretion that it has, 

that those properties should be removed, but it would have to have a 

consultation for a direction for re-notification.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, that is helpful.  Thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay. That is good to know. So I suppose your first 

appointment is 9.00 o’clock tomorrow but ours, in terms of the hearing, 

is an 11.00 o’clock start, isn’t it? 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, at 2.00 o’clock this afternoon actually. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, quite.  I have not forgotten that.  I would rather forget 

that. 

 15 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 12.54 PM UNTIL 

THURSDAY 8 OCTOBER 2015 


